2015

**Transportation Alliance Bank, a Utah Banking Corporation,
Plaintiff/Appellee, vs. International Confections Company, LLC, an
Ohio Limited Liability Company; Ng Acquisition, LLC, an Ohio
Limited Liability Company; And Michael D. Ryan, and Individual,
Defendants/Appellants**

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal under [Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103\(2\)\(j\)](#). The case was properly transferred under [Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102\(4\)](#) from the Supreme Court, which had jurisdiction under [Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102\(3\)\(j\)](#).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Issue 1: When the plaintiff dismisses a case under [Rule 41\(a\)\(1\)](#) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, no case in controversy exists any longer, so a court lacks jurisdiction to proceed. Transportation Alliance Bank was the only plaintiff when it filed a notice of voluntary dismissal with prejudice. No intervenors had filed pleadings, and no defendant had responded to the complaint. Did the trial court lack jurisdiction to proceed after the dismissal?

Standard of Review: De novo. See [State Dept. of Social Services v. Vijil](#), 784 P.2d 1130, 1132 (1989).

Preservation: [R. 1030-1031](#).

Issue 2: When an attorney withdraws, [Rule 74\(c\)](#) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure prohibits further proceedings until 21 days after the adverse party files a notice to appear or appoint counsel. Appellants' former counsel withdrew by notice when no motions were pending. Even though no adverse party had served or filed a notice to appear and appoint counsel, the trial court nonetheless

approved a receivership sale while Appellants were unrepresented. Should the trial court have granted relief from judgment based on [Rule 74\(c\)](#)?

Standard of Review: Abuse of discretion. See [Vijil](#), *supra* at 1132.

Preservation: [R. 1027-1030](#).

Issue 3: The trial court granted the receiver's expedited motion to approve a receivership sale five days after it was filed, even though former counsel for Appellants had withdrawn as counsel before the receiver's motion. Was the failure to object to the proposed sale within that five-day window excusable neglect?

Standard of Review: Abuse of discretion. See [Vijil](#), *supra* at 1132.

Preservation: [R. 1022-1027](#).

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 24, 41, 60, and 74, and [Utah Code Ann. § 78A-5-102](#) are determinative. Those provisions are set forth in the [addendum](#).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves an attempt by Intervenor/Appellee Mrs. Fields Confections, LLC (“Mrs. Fields Confections”) to secure a general release of all claims through an asset purchase in receivership not only for itself (the purchaser), but for any companies affiliated with it. In doing so, Mrs. Fields Confections has tried to insulate a purported affiliate, Mrs. Fields Franchising, LLC (“Mrs. Fields Franchising”), from liability for the very misconduct that led to the receivership in the first place—the breach and improper termination of a 17-year license and distribution agreement in its second year.

I. Transportation Alliance Bank files a complaint, other creditors seek intervention, and the trial court appoints a receiver.

This case began when the original plaintiff, Transportation Alliance Bank (“Transportation Alliance”) filed a Verified Complaint on October 21, 2014 in the trial court. (R. 1–234.) Transportation Alliance claimed that Defendants/Appellants International Confections Company, LLC (“International Confections”), NG Acquisition, LLC (“NG”), and Michael D. Ryan (“Ryan”) breached their obligations under a loan agreement and related payment guarantee. Transportation Alliance moved for the immediate appointment of a receiver. (R. 238–294.)

While Transportation Alliance’s motion for appointment of a receiver was pending, other putative creditors of International Confections, NG, and Ryan filed

a stipulated motion to intervene in the case. The creditors were Back Bay Investments, LC, Dynamic Confections, Inc., Wasatch Peak Holdings, LLC, Bank of American Fork, and Arcadia Holdings, LLC (collectively, “Intervening Creditors”). (R. 422–424.) The motion did not specify whether the Intervening Creditors sought to intervene as plaintiffs or defendants. The proposed order stated that the Intervening Creditors were “deemed parties” without specifying plaintiffs or defendants. (R. 425–426.) The trial court granted the motion to intervene on November 5, 2014, using the proposed order and therefore stating that the intervenors were “deemed parties,” not plaintiffs or defendants. (R. 429–430; *see also* Addendum.) The intervenors did not file complaints, answers, or any other pleadings either when they moved to intervene or at any time thereafter.

The trial court granted Transportation Alliance’s motion for appointment of a receiver on November 13, 2014, appointing Kent W. Goates as receiver (“Receiver”). (R. 663–678; *see also*, Addendum.)

II. Transportation Alliance dismisses the case with prejudice, yet the case continues.

Transportation Alliance, who remained the only plaintiff in the case, settled its claims with International Confections, NG, and Ryan. At that time, none of the Defendants had ever filed an answer or other response to Transportation Alliance’s complaint. Accordingly, Transportation Alliance filed a notice of voluntary

dismissal with prejudice on November 24, 2014. (R. 720–722; see also [Addendum](#).)

Two of the Intervening Creditors—who still had not filed complaints or other pleadings—filed “objections” to the dismissal. (R. 726–730 (Bank of American Fork); 734–740 (Arcadia Holdings).) International Confections, NG, and Ryan responded to these objections, pointing out that Transportation Alliance had the unilateral right to dismiss its case and arguing that Transportation Alliance had obtained the extraordinary remedy of a receivership based on Transportation Alliance’s unique contractual relationship with International Confections, NG, and Ryan. (R. 750–754.)

The trial court held a hearing on the dismissal issue on December 3, 2014. At that point, the parties consented that the Intervening Creditors would be substituted into the third cause of action of Transportation Alliance’s complaint (the receivership count) and that the rest of the causes of action would be dismissed. (R. 765.) The trial court entered an order on December 11, 2014. (R. 779–783.) In relevant part, the order stated:

1. The intervening creditors in this case are substituted as plaintiffs under the third cause of action in the complaint only, and the case shall remain pending. All previously scheduled hearing dates are canceled, as stated at the hearing.

2. Plaintiff's claims are dismissed with prejudice, pursuant to Plaintiff's Dismissal Notice.

3. The November 11, 2014 Order Approving the Immediate Appointment of Receiver (the "Receivership Order") remains in full force and effect.

(R. 780; see also [Addendum](#).) Thus, the Intervening Creditors purportedly became plaintiffs for the first time on December 11, 2014, seven days after Transportation Alliance had dismissed the case.

III. The Receiver negotiates the sale of International Confections's assets.

During the course of the Receivership, Mr. Goates received two offers to purchase the assets of International Confections. The first offer came on November 20, 2014 from BBX Sweet Holdings, LLC ("BBX"). For a variety of reasons, BBX insisted that all material terms be agreed to in writing by December 11, 2014. Negotiations continued between BBX and the Receiver until December 11.

Meanwhile, on December 3, 2014 (during the course of the receivership), Mrs. Fields Franchising sued International Confections in federal court for alleged trademark infringement, breach of the License Agreement, and unjust enrichment.

Eight days later, on December 11, Famous Brands International—the parent company of Mrs. Fields—offered to purchase International Confections's assets. Famous Brand's offer came just 15 minutes before the deadline set by BBX. This offer culminated in an Asset Purchase Agreement signed by the Receiver and Mrs.

Fields Confections on December 17, 2014 (“Asset Purchase Agreement”). International Confections, NG and Ryan were not signatories to the Asset Purchase Agreement and they were not made aware of its terms until after the Court had approved the sale. (R. 1036 (Ryan Affidavit at ¶ 5, 7).) Relevant to the 60(b) motion and this appeal, the Asset Purchase Agreement (R. 891–912) contained the following provision:

Section 2.06 Release of Claims. Effective upon the Closing of the sale that is the subject of this Agreement, Seller on his own behalf and on behalf of the Companies waives and releases any and all claims he or the Companies may have against the Buyer and its employees, officers, directors, members, affiliates, and agents except for claims arising under this Agreement.

(R. 897.) “Seller” is defined as “Kent Goates only in his capacity as court-appointed receiver of the business and assets of International Confections Company, LLC, dba Maxfield Candy (‘Maxfield’) and NG Acquisition, LLC (‘NG’) in case no. 140907314 in the Utah Third District Court.” “Companies” is defined as International Confections Company, LLC, dba Maxfield Candy and NG Acquisition, LLC. “Buyer” is defined as Mrs. Fields Confections, LLC. (R. 891.)

IV. Counsel for International Confections, NG, and Ryan withdraws, but the case proceeds anyway.

Mark James, former counsel for International Confections, NG, and Ryan, filed a notice of withdrawal as counsel on December 18, 2014. (R. 787–788.) The

record shows that James filed the notice of withdrawal at 2:42 PM, and that counsel representing the other parties received electronic notice within one minute. (R. 789–791.) No motions were pending at the time. The record shows that the Receiver filed an expedited motion to approve the receivership sale to Mrs. Fields Confections later that same day. (R. at 792–795.)¹ Despite Mr. James’s withdrawal, no party or counsel ever filed or served the defendants a notice to appear or appoint counsel under Rule 74.

Even though International Confections, NG, and Ryan were no longer represented by counsel, the trial court held an expedited hearing on the motion to approve the receivership sale five days later, on December 23, 2014. (R. 926–927.) When the trial court judge asked at the hearing about the defendants not appearing, counsel for the Receiver acknowledged that Mr. James had withdrawn. (R. 1499, line 13 through R. 1500, line 11.) Counsel for the Receiver also made ambiguous statements about who on behalf of International Confections, NG and Ryan, if anyone, had been notified (“They have been notified” and “They’ve

¹ Although no time-stamped electronic filing confirmation appears in the record for the receiver’s expedited motion to approve the sale, the chronological sequence of the record reflects that Attorney James filed his notice of withdrawal before the receiver filed the motion to approve the sale. And Mrs. Fields counsel conceded at oral argument that the receiver’s expedited motion was filed “the same day, a couple of hours later, the day the notice of withdrawal was filed[.]” (R. 1558, lines 8–10.)

received notice.”). (R. 1500, lines 1-4.) Finally, counsel for the Receiver mislabeled Attorney James’s withdrawal a “motion” and stated the Court had not granted it yet, even though it was unambiguously a notice of withdrawal. (R. 1500, lines 6-8.) The trial court proceeded with the hearing and issued an order approving the receivership sale to Mrs. Fields Confections. (R. 928-934; see also [Addendum](#).) It did so even though International Confections, NG and Ryan were unrepresented by counsel; only five days had passed since the Receiver filed his motion to approve; and no one filed or served a notice to appear or appoint counsel under [Rule 74](#).

V. International Confections sues Mrs. Fields Franchising and Mrs. Fields Confections and learns of the release term in Mrs. Fields Confections’ purchase agreement.

International Confections learned about the broad release term in the purchase agreement signed by Mrs. Fields Confections when it tried to pursue claims against both Mrs. Fields Confections and Mrs. Fields Franchising—purportedly an affiliate of Mrs. Fields Confections. That separate lawsuit centered around a breach of contract by Mrs. Fields Confections. On May 16, 2013, Mrs. Fields Franchising entered into a License Agreement with International Confections (“License Agreement”).

The term of the License Agreement continued through December 31, 2030. Under the License Agreement, Mrs. Fields Franchising granted International

Confections the irrevocable exclusive right to use certain Mrs. Fields Franchising trademarks, trade names, service marks, and recipes to manufacture, market, and sell various chocolate goods in grocery stores and supermarkets (among other “distribution channels”) throughout the United States of America, Canada, and Mexico. International Confections estimates that its revenue from the first year of the License Agreement was between 9 and 11 million dollars. (R. 1035 (Affidavit of Michael D. Ryan), ¶ 3; R. 1051–1084 (License Agreement).)

On August 26, 2014, Mrs. Fields Franchising sent a written notice claiming that International Confections was in default of some of its obligations under the License Agreement. (R. 1043 (International Confections vs. Mrs. Fields Franchising complaint).) The License Agreement allowed Mrs. Fields Franchising to terminate for failure to pay royalties only if the default remained uncured for twenty consecutive days after Mrs. Fields Franchising delivered a written notice of default to International Confections. For default of any other material term, Mrs. Fields Franchising could terminate only if the default continued unremedied for thirty days after written notice. But if the remedy could not be completed within 30 days, Mrs. Fields Franchising could not terminate if International Confections had commenced diligent efforts to remedy the default within 30 days and continued efforts to remedy the default until the remedy was complete. (R. 1042–1043; R. 1065–1066 (default term of License Agreement).) Further, in a related

Consent to Collateral Assignment, Mrs. Fields Franchising and International Confections agreed that Mrs. Fields would not terminate the License Agreement without providing non-party Maxfield Candy Company written notice and the opportunity to cure any alleged default by International Confections. (R. 1088.) Mrs. Fields never provided Maxfield the required notice. (R. 1045.)

International Confections responded to Mrs. Fields Franchising's notice of default on September 15, 2014. International Confections provided necessary information, pointed out the minimum 30-day cure period, and told Mrs. Fields Franchising that International Confections was preparing the remaining requested documentation. International Confections commenced diligent efforts to remedy any purported defaults during the time period permitted by the License Agreement. International Confections could not complete the remedies within 30 days of Mrs. Fields Franchising's notice, so International Confections continued its efforts beyond the 30 days and in fact did complete all necessary remedies. Mrs. Fields Franchising never responded to International Confections's September 15, 2014 letter or acknowledged International Confections's cure efforts. Instead, Mrs. Fields Franchising sent an improper "Notice of Termination" to International Confections on September 26, 2014. (R. 1044–1045.) Mrs. Fields Franchising knew that International Confections had a line of credit with Transportation Alliance. Mrs. Fields Franchising falsely notified Transportation Alliance that

International Confections had defaulted under the License Agreement, which in turn led Transportation Alliance to file this case and request the receivership. (R. 1045.)

International Confections sued Mrs. Fields Franchising and Mrs. Fields Confections in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Ohio on March 9, 2015. (R. 1039–1095.) Almost immediately, attorneys for the two Mrs. Fields entities sent International Confections’s counsel a copy of the purchase agreement from the receivership sale and claimed that the release term barred International Confections’s claims. International Confections, NG, and Mr. Ryan had not seen the asset purchase agreement, and therefore were unaware of the release language until attorneys for the two Mrs. Fields’ entities sent it to International Confections’s counsel. (R. 1036 (Ryan Affidavit at ¶¶ 5, 7).)

After learning of the release language, International Confections dismissed the lawsuit against Mrs. Fields Franchising and Mrs. Fields Confections without prejudice. International Confections, NG, and Ryan filed their motion for relief from judgment with the trial court in this case shortly after, on March 23, 2015. (R. 1016–1095.) Mr. Ryan swore under oath that he, International Confections, and NG will not exercise any rights they may have to reclaim the purchased assets if the trial court would have granted relief from judgment. They intend only to pursue legal remedies against Mrs. Fields entities arising out of the unlawful

termination of the License Agreement between International Confections and Mrs. Fields Franchising. (R. 1036 (Ryan Affid., ¶ 12).)

The trial court denied the motion on August 21, 2015. (R. 1451–1460.) International Confections, NG, and Ryan timely appealed on September 21, 2015. (R. 1461–1463; see also *Addendum*.) Appellants now ask this Court to reverse the order denying relief from judgment.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should reverse the decision denying relief from judgment for three reasons.

First, the trial court lost jurisdiction to proceed once the only plaintiff, Transportation Alliance, filed a notice of voluntary dismissal with prejudice on November 24, 2014. Transportation Alliance was the only plaintiff as of that date. Although other creditors had received permission to intervene, they never filed a pleading as *Rule 24* requires, and therefore never established themselves as plaintiffs. Transportation Alliance was the only plaintiff. And International Confections, NG, and Ryan had not answered or responded to Transportation Alliance’s complaint. Transportation Alliance’s notice of voluntary dismissal complied with *Rule 41*(A)(1).

When a party has complied with *Rule 41*(a)(1), “no case in controversy exists any longer and, hence, the court would lack jurisdiction to proceed any

further with the action.” *Thiele v. Anderson*, 1999 UT App 56, ¶ 24, 975 P.2d 481, 489. Because the notice of voluntary dismissal terminated the case, any subsequent agreement by International Confections, NG, and Ryan to allow the case and receivership to proceed was void; there was no case or controversy before the trial court, and therefore no pending matter in which the parties could even consent to continuing the proceedings. Neither the trial court nor the parties could breathe life back into the dismissed case. In turn, the proceedings that occurred after dismissal—including the Court’s approval of the receivership sale—were void.

Second, even if Transportation Alliance had not dismissed the case, the trial court should not have proceeded after counsel for International Confections, NG, and Ryan had filed a notice of withdrawal on December 18, 2014. No motions were pending at the time. [Rule 74\(c\)](#) required the opposing parties to serve and file a notice to appear or appoint counsel. [Rule 74\(c\)](#) also prohibited the trial court from proceeding with the case until 21 days after that notice is filed. Utah courts have interpreted [Rule 74\(c\)](#) to “impose[] an unambiguous restriction on opposing counsel and the trial court.” *Loporto v. Hoegemann*, 1999 UT App. 175, ¶ 19, 982 P.2d 586.

Opposing counsel’s failure to discharge their duty under [Rule 74\(c\)](#) justifies relief from judgment under the catch-all “any other reason justifying relief” prong

of [Rule 60\(b\)](#). See [Sperry v. Smith](#), 694 P.2d 581, 582 (Utah 1984) (reversing denial of motion to vacate judgment as abuse of discretion when opposing party failed to serve notice on unrepresented party after counsel had withdrawn). The withdrawal of International Confections, NG, and Ryan’s former counsel triggered an immediate and automatic moratorium on any proceedings, and because the opposing parties never served or filed a notice under [Rule 74\(c\)](#), that moratorium never expired. The order approving the receivership sale violated [Rule 74\(c\)](#), and the trial court should have vacated it.

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