2015

**Transportation Alliance Bank, a Utah Banking Corporation,
Plaintiff/Appellee, vs. International Confections Company, LLC, an
Ohio Limited Liability Company; Ng Acquisition, LLC, an Ohio
Limited Liability Company; And Michael D. Ryan, and Individual,
Defendants/Appellants**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

"The general rule precluding the relitigation of material facts or questions which were in issue and adjudicated in a former action is applicable to *all matters* essentially connected with the subject matter of the litigation. This application of the general rule extends to questions necessarily involved in an issue . . . although no specific finding may have been made in reference to that matter, and although such matters were not directly referred to in the pleadings."

Macris & Assoc., Inc. v. Neways, Inc., 2000 UT 93, ¶ 40, 16 P.3d 1214 (quoting 46 Am.

Jur. 2d *Judgments* § 545)). This applies whether the court itself decided the matter or it was agreed to by stipulation. *See id.*, ¶ 43.

Aside from the res judicata effect of the Sale Order, there is the more general principal that the “concept of a void judgment is extremely limited.” *Kansas City S. Ry. Co. v. Great Lakes Carbon Corp.*, 624 F.2d 822, 825 n. 5 (8th Cir.1980). Only when the jurisdictional error is “‘egregious’ will courts treat the judgment as void.” *United States v. Tittjung*, 235 F.3d 330, 335 (7th Cir.2000); *Gschwind v. Cessna Aircraft Co.*, 232 F.3d 1342, 1346 (10th Cir. 2000). The reason for this is, like the principal of res judicata, the “interest of finality.” *V.T.A., Inc. v. Airco, Inc.*, 597 F.2d 220, 225 (10th Cir. 1979); *Brimhall v. Mecham*, 494 P.2d 525, 526 (Utah 1972).

Even if the trial court had erred when it determined that it had jurisdiction, rule 60(b)(4) cannot be used to overturn this decision. *See Gschwind v. Cessna Aircraft Co.*, 232 F.3d at 1346. This is because only a “clear usurpation of power” can form the basis for such a motion, and “a court does not usurp its power when it erroneously exercises jurisdiction.” *Id.* “Error in interpreting a statutory grant of jurisdiction” is simply “not equivalent to acting with total want of jurisdiction.” *Id.* *See also Wendt*, 431 F.3d at 413 (“[W]hen deciding whether an order is void under Rule 60(b)(4) for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, courts must look for the rare instance of a clear usurpation of power.”); *Hunter v. Underwood*, 362 F.3d at 475 (“A Rule 60(b)(4) motion to void the judgment for lack of subject matter jurisdiction will succeed only if the absence of jurisdiction was so glaring as to constitute

a total want of jurisdiction or a plain usurpation of power so as to render the judgment void from its inception."); *Kansas City So. Ry. Co.*, 624 F.2d 822, 825 (erroneous assumption of jurisdiction does not render judgment void under Rule 60(b)(4)). So long as there is even an "arguable basis" for jurisdiction (to which all parties below agreed), courts do not grant relief under rule 60(b)(4). *United Student Aid Funds, Inc. v. Espinosa*, 559 U.S. 260, 264 (2010).

Defendants failed to appeal the trial court's jurisdictional ruling (instead stipulating thereto). Under the law set forth above, the failure to appeal is decisive as to the matter now before the Court; an objection to the trial court's decision via a rule 60(b) motion does not provide an avenue for relief in this case. Accordingly, the trial court's denial of that motion should be affirmed.

b. The Notice of Dismissal Was Improper and Insufficient to Dismiss this Case.

Even if Defendants could somehow bypass the dispositive issue of finality, they cannot show that the trial court's ruling was otherwise erroneous.

The trial court held that the Notice of Dismissal had no effect on its subject matter jurisdiction for two reasons. First, the trial court ruled that, given the entry of various orders, including a stipulated motion to intervene granting "intervention of right" and the appointment of a receiver, TAB did not have authority to dismiss the entire case without order of the Court. Defendants fail to show any error in this ruling.

Before TAB filed the Notice of Dismissal, the parties had already stipulated to the intervention of five other creditors. The Order Granting Motion to Intervene was entered more than three weeks prior to the filing of the Notice of Dismissal. The Order appointing a receiver was entered two weeks before the alleged dismissal.

The plain language of Rule 41(a)(1) (“the plaintiff” may file a notice of voluntary dismissal), does not authorize one plaintiff acting alone to dismiss all claims of all parties. Defendants have cited no cases in which one plaintiff succeeded in automatically dismissing claims of other intervenors under Rule 41(a)(1) without their consent. Instead, Defendants argue that the manner in which the parties intervened was improper under rule 24. This argument fails for two reasons.

First, Defendants did not appeal from the trial court’s order granting intervention. Accordingly, the issue of whether the trial court properly allowed for intervention is not before this Court. *See Weber v. Mikarose, LLC*, 2015 UT App 130, ¶ 11; *Franklin Covey Client Sales, Inc. v. Melvin*, 2000 UT App 110, ¶¶ 19, 23, 2 P.3d 451; *see also Wendt v. Leonard*, 431 F.3d at 412 (courts “must be mindful that Rule 60(b)(4) is not a substitute for a timely appeal.”).

Second, Defendants *stipulated* to the intervention and therefore waived any defect they now complain of. While a party may not be able to waive an appropriate challenge to subject matter jurisdiction, it can certainly waive the right to object to intervention. *See In re E.H.*, 2006 UT 36, ¶ 52, 137 P.3d 809 (holding that standing and the right to

intervene may be stipulated); *see also Royal Resources, Inc. v. Gibraltar Fin. Corp.*, 603 P.2d 793, 798 (Utah 1979) (stipulation waives rights otherwise available).

Under rule 41, unless all parties consent to dismissal, voluntary dismissal as to those parties is improper. Where there are multiple plaintiffs, each one is deemed to have a separate and distinct cause of action and a voluntary dismissal by less than all plaintiffs can, at most, dismiss only the consenting plaintiffs' claims. *See Miller v. Stewart*, 43 F.R.D. 409, 412-13 (E.D. Ill. 1967); *Wheeler v. American Home Prod. Corp.*, 582 F.2d 891, 896 (5th Cir. 1977) (holding that Rule 41(a)(1) does not authorize dismissal of the entire case by the original plaintiff where intervening plaintiffs did not consent); *University of South Alabama v. American Tobacco Co.*, 178 F.3d 405, 409 (11th Cir. 1999) (holding that attempted notice of voluntary dismissal under Rule 41(a)(1) was ineffective where "it was by no means clear that the proper plaintiff" filed the notice).

While Defendants argue that the intervenors were not properly labelled as "plaintiffs", this ignores the trial court's ruling that they were "parties for all purposes." As intervening creditors of the Defendants, they could only be deemed plaintiffs. This was verified by the Court in its Amended Receivership Order ("The intervening creditors in this case are substituted as plaintiffs under the Third Cause of Action") (R.780). TAB's Notice of Dismissal (even ignoring the fact that all parties subsequently agreed to the withdrawal of such notice) was therefore improper and ineffective to dismiss the entire case. *See, e.g., Supernova Media, Inc. v. Pia Anderson Dorius Reynard & Moss*,

2103 UT 7, ¶ 54, 297 P.3d 559 (intervention precludes voluntary dismissal under rule 41(a)(2)).

The second ruling made by the trial court in this regard related to the broad nature of subject matter jurisdiction:

[T]here is no question that the Court had subject matter over this case when it was filed. Indeed, the alleged lack of subject matter jurisdiction is premised on a technical or procedural irregularity, not the Court's general authority to decide cases within a class. Assuming without deciding that the Notice of Dismissal implicates subject matter jurisdiction, Defendants could consent to, or waive their right to object to, the Court proceeding notwithstanding the Notice of Dismissal. *See [Johnson v. Johnson, 2010 UT 28]* at ¶ 11 (citing with approval holding in *Donovan v. Templeton, 1997 Ohio App. LEXIS 2617 at *7* (Ohio Ct. App., May 9, 1997) that technical or procedural irregularity is waived if not promptly raised). Based on their counsel's representations at the December 3rd hearing and his approval of the Order on December 3, 2014 Hearing, Defendants consented and waived any right to object to the Court proceeding notwithstanding the Notice of Dismissal.

Ruling and Order, p. 7.

Defendants attack this ruling on the basis of the general proposition that a party cannot waive subject matter jurisdiction. However, citation to this principal is insufficient to warrant reversal here.

In *Johnson v. Johnson*, the Utah Supreme Court made clear that subject matter jurisdiction is simply “the authority of the court to decide the case,” and that subject matter for a district court existed “in all matters civil and criminal, not excepted in the Utah Constitution and not prohibited by law.” 2010 UT 28, ¶ 8, 234 P.3d 1100 (citing *Chen v. Stewart, 2004 UT 82, 38, 100 P.3d 1177*); *see also* Utah Code Ann §

78A-5-102(1) (“The district court has original jurisdiction in all matters civil and criminal, not excepted in the Utah Constitution and not prohibited by law.”). Most cases that address the issue of subject matter jurisdiction “have considered the authority of the court to adjudicate a class of cases, rather than the specifics of an individual case.” 2010 UT 28, ¶ 10. At issue in *Johnson* was a divorce case between parties who had not been married. Despite the existence of a statutory requirement of marriage before a court could issue a divorce decree, the Court held that, because the trial court could hear divorce cases generally, it had “subject matter” jurisdiction.

A similar decision was rendered in *Chen*. There, defendants (like Defendants here) argued that, because subject matter jurisdiction cannot be waived and could be raised at any time, the trial court erred when it ruled that Ms. Chen had waived her right to object to appointment of a special master. *See Chen*, 2004 UT 82, ¶¶ 33-41. The *Chen* Court, like the *Johnson* Court, noted that the trial court had subject matter jurisdiction over the case pursuant to the predecessor statute to § 78A-5-102(1). The Court also held that a party can waive an objection to the appointment of a special master, or a receiver, and that this did not relate to issues of subject matter jurisdiction, but equitable powers of the court. *See id.* and ¶ 48.

Here, Defendants do not (and cannot) argue that the trial court had no power to hear the underlying case. Indeed, TAB’s initial complaint in this case made clear that the court “has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Utah Code Ann §

78A-5-102(1).” R 2, ¶ 6. Because Defendants fail to show that the Notice of Dismissal somehow destroyed the trial court’s general subject matter jurisdiction, and failed to show why the rulings in *Johnson* and *Chen* do not apply equally here, they fail to provide a basis to disturb the trial court’s ruling.

Because Defendants fail to provide a basis for overturning the three separate bases provided by the trial court, Defendants’ appeal of the order denying their rule 60(b)(4) motion must fail.

III. Defendants Fail to Show Abuse of Discretion Regarding the Trial Court’s Denial of Defendants’ Rule 60(b)(6) Motion.

Defendants argued below that, by virtue of the trial court’s failure to require compliance with Utah R. Civ. P. 74, the Sale Order should be set aside pursuant to the “catchall” provision of rule 60(b)(6). (R. 1027). Rulings on a motion under rule 60(b)(6) are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard of review. *Bodell Constr. Co. v. Robbins*, 2014 UT App 203, ¶ 5. Defendants fail to show an abuse of discretion.

The trial court provided three separate bases for its decision regarding rule 74.² First, the trial court ruled that the Notice of Withdrawal was “defective, and therefore ineffective, because it did not include Defendants’ address(es).” (R.1458.) “This is not a mere technicality because the address requirement is directly tied to the other parties’ ability to comply with the notice to appear or appoint requirement and to communicate with Defendants during this critical period of time.” *Id.*

In response, Defendants argue that failure to include one's client on a notice of withdrawal is a "technical deficiency," and that the trial court should have overlooked this deficiency. Defendants cite no authority to support this assertion. Instead, the argument appears to be that "the adverse parties" could and should have contacted Defendants, despite the fact that Defendants' own counsel was (without dispute) receiving notice of all relevant pleadings and hearings (as James was still listed as counsel for Defendants on the court's electronic case management system), up until and including the final judgment entered in this case. App. Br., p. 33. This argument is without legal support and Defendants otherwise fail to show an abuse of discretion.

Second, the trial court held that Defendants' counsel had notice of all pleadings and that Defendants had actual notice of the Sale Order no later than January 2015 (R.1459). Because no action was taken despite such notice, the trial court held that Defendants "waived any rule 74 objection." *Id.* Defendants do not address, let alone dispute, this ruling or the issue of waiver, and therefore fail to show an abuse of discretion. In any event, waiver is expressly anticipated and allowed for in rule 74. *See* Utah R. Civ. P. 74(c); *Migliore v. Migliore*, 2008 UT App 208, ¶ 19, 186 P.3d 973.

The trial court provided a third reason to support its refusal to set aside the Sale Order when it held that refusal to do so was "not inconsistent with substantial justice:"

Defendants did not exercise sufficient diligence in connection with these proceedings and they received substantial benefits from the Asset

² In its Ruling and Order, the trial court lumped its review of this issue into its discussion about void judgments. However, the motion was made pursuant to rule 60(b)(6).

Purchase Agreement. As Defendants appear to concede given the limited relief they are requesting, the Court cannot undo the transaction. *See* Rule 61 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (no error or defect in any ruling or order or in anything done or omitted by the court is ground for disturbing a judgment or order unless refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial justice).

(R.1455.) Once again, Defendants do not address this ruling, thereby failing to show an abuse of discretion. In any event, such a ruling is consistent with rule 74, which allows a court to proceed if it so chooses; going forward was “otherwise ordered by the court.” *See* Utah R. Civ. P. 74(c); Sale Order at pp. 1-2, and ¶ 4 (holding that, despite the trial court’s awareness of the withdrawal of counsel, there was sufficient notice under the “facts of this case”).

Ultimately, it was not the trial court or the parties who failed to comply with rule 74, but Defendants. The parties agree that Defendants’ counsel failed to include any contact information for Defendants as required by rule 74(a). Defendants cannot complain of lack of notice when the information needed to give notice was absent from the required pleading.

Further, there is no question that James, as counsel for the Defendants, received notice on and after December 18, 2014 of (i) the sale motion; (ii) the notice providing an opportunity to object to the sale, an opportunity to submit higher offers, and an opportunity to appear at the sale hearing; (iii) the proposed Sale Order, which included a fully executed copy of the APA with exhibits; and (iv) the Sale Order as entered by the Court on December 23, 2014. Defendants certainly knew, before James attempted to

withdraw, that the Amended Receiver Order had been entered (they stipulated to it) and that the assets of ICC and NG were about to be sold by the Receiver on a very short timeline (R.779-82). Nevertheless, Defendants chose not to actively participate in the case on and after December 18, 2014. These facts support the trial court's third ruling, and Defendants fail to show any abuse of discretion.

Last, to the extent Defendants instead now seek to alter their argument to request a ruling that the trial court's decision regarding rule 74 is "void" under rule 60(b)(4), this specific argument was not raised below. In any event, Defendants cite no legal authority to support this argument and otherwise fail to show that the trial court's ruling regarding rule 74 was erroneous.

IV. Defendants Fail to Show Abuse of Discretion Regarding the Trial Court's Denial of Defendants' Rule 60(b)(1) Motion.

Defendants argue that the trial court abused its discretion when it denied their motion for relief under rule 60(b)(1) on the basis of "excusable neglect." Once again, Defendants fail to make the required showing. Defendants merely restate their unsupported version of the facts and conclude with an assertion that the trial court "abused its discretion." This is insufficient to overturn the broad discretion afforded a trial court under rule 60(b).

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